FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 AUG 21 PM 1:03

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY 
DEPUTY

APPELLANTS OPENING BRIEF
TO WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

Court Of Appeals Case No. 47565-I-II

MICHAEL J. COLLINS - APPELLANT PRO-SE

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON &
OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR,
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES
IN ITS/THEIR OFFICIAL CAPACITY
(Respondents)

This Opening Brief File Date August 21, 2015

Michael J. Collins – Appellant Pro-se

Michael J. Collins - Appellant Pro-se
10101 43rd Street Court East
Edgewood, Washington 98371
(253) 348-5842

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Trial Court erred by not allowing myself a necessary Discovery process after the (first) of three different judges that were assigned to this case at issue in less than two months,,, decided for still undisclosed reasons, to remove (herself) from my case, only after rendering an erroneous decision in direct reference to Attorney General [AG] (especially), Governor, and L&I statutory, and common-law 'special duty' owed me. This would have required a Discovery process from the (third) Trial Court Judge, where I Plaintiff would easily prove non-compliance with a prior 'smoking gun' directly related (not time-barred) legal decision,,, which along with my timely notice to the [S]tate in 2014, created a [S]tate 'special duty' owe me, and a 'special relationship' with me. APP."EX" 1-2. "CP" 110-113.
2. The (second) Trial Court Judge who I never even appeared before, erred by never forwarding my powerful Amended Principle Pleadings to the (third) Trial Court judge assigned to this case at issue. Then that (third) Trial Court judge see "RP" 1-31, never even read the content of my Plaintiff Amended Principle Pleadings, and its incontrovertible documents as Exhibits that were indefensible, and that would have proven facts as I presented, and that would have clearly established [S]tate duty, breach of duty, causation, and injury, for my strong Tort complaint, then easily defeating a 12(b)(6) dismissal.

3. Judge Culpepper (third), erred, relying on an erroneous interpretation of a Defense filed Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 46, (1965), where Defense Counsel Rice, was deliberately dishonest in the content, and context of that specific Restatement. I made that clear in my Reconsideration pleadings subsequent to Judge Culpeppers' April 17, 2015 dismissal, (as I was not able to respond prior to April 17, 2015 (because Defense cleverly did not file this misstatement of Restatement law,, until April 15, 2015,, as Defense counsel Rice knew I would destroy as erroneous, all his erroneous citations,, but this was ignored by Judge Culpepper. This misstatement of law, is what Judge Culpepper directly based his April 17, 2015 dismissal as he also directly relied on a Defense filed case law citation *Cena v State*, where Defense is despicably out-of-context as irrelevant. This as Cena was seeking L&I time-loss benefits, I, with deliberate intent, never requested in this Tort complaint, as Cena, APP."EX" 3, would have received an L&I Appealable Order, (example) "CP" 128, discussing disposition of her L&I monetary benefits sought, then could have had that exact complaint heard under the Industrial Insurance 'Act' legal process. See "CP" 128,140,141, as L&I 2007, 2010, and 2014 Appealable Orders, in my specific case,, then Cena will not define [S]tate duty, breach of duty, causation, and injury, to create Tort.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Whether the Trial Court misstated, and ignored Washington State Statutory law, RCW 51.04.020(6), RCW 43.06.010(7)(11), and RCW 43.10.030(2)(4)(5)(7), WAC Codes WAC 296-20-01002, WAC 296-14-970(4)(5), Washington State Constitutional Law as Art. I Section 3, Art. I Section 32, Art. III Section 5, Art. III Section 21, Restatement, and common law, supporting (my specific case) of [S]tate Tort.

Whether the Trial Court abused its discretion by never even reading, then never even considering, the content, and strength of my Superior Court Tort Complaint, as was not forwarded to (third) Judge, by (second) Judge.

Whether the Trial Court misstated law, and abused its discretion, by ignoring my (not time-barred) legal victory April 18, 2007 "CP" 110-113, and its profound due process mandate for L&I, and for the [AG], to prove compliance thereof, and what could subsequently be brought to, and what could subsequently be heard,,, under the Industrial Insurance Act, by way of a latest L&I Appealable Order,,, as my proper Tort complaint is not based on an Industrial Injury, or Occupational Disease, as my proper Tort complaint is not based on what gave rise to my original Industrial Injury.

Whether the Trial Court misstated law, and abused its discretion, by ignoring, then not considering, a [S]tate 'special duty' owed, as legally defined,,, and a [S]tate (to me) 'special relationship' as legally defined,,, as directly relating to the incontrovertible facts of (my case specific).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 18, 2007, I Plaintiff Pro se Michael J. Collins was victorious in compelling L&I to completely change the criteria upon which my then L&I claim would be adjudicated pursuant to. "CP" 110-113.

Under the Industrial Insurance Act, once the BIIA remanded back to the Department (L&I),,, after April 18, 2007, it the BIIA, could never 'go back', and enforce its own decision later. "CP" 143-145.

The Attorney General on November 14, 2011, realizing how important it was to make it appear it had complied with the April 18, 2007 BIIA decision in my favor,,, compelling L&I to 'further adjudicate my claim on a different legal standard',,, filed a Sworn Statement, signed by L&I's David A. Iverson swearing to compliance with the April 18, 2007 BIIA legal decision in my favor, for which there is no time limitation for compliance "CP" 110-113.

On February 28, 2014 I Plaintiff Pro se Michael J. Collins, requested of the Governor, Attorney General, and the L&I Director, to investigate, and enforce the April 18, 2007 BIIA decision in my favor. "CP" 162-173.

My Superior Court Tort complaint was filed within the applicable 3 year statute of limitations November 7, 2014, from November 14, 2011, but there is no time limitation on 2007 legal Order compliance "CP" 110-113.

The issue(s) upon which my Tort complaint is/are directly based, are completely separate from, as not directly related to, as not based on, what gave rise to my original L&I injury. "CP" 162-173.

ARGUMENT

I ask with this Plaintiff Argument, this Appellate Court faithfully refer to my "CP" included Exhibits 110-175, [APP. "EX"], and 'RP" argument. Because the Superior Court improperly dismissed my proper Tort complaint, filed in Superior Court with original jurisdiction as proper, and as improperly dismissed by Superior Court based both on misstatements of law, and also based on not taking into consideration my incontrovertible Exhibits establishing a claim history, then establishing duty on the part of the [S]tate, I with my argument will establish as proper, a de novo, and abuse of discretion review by this Appellate Court. Superior Court took the position that there was no duty on the part of the [S]tate, but I will establish a 'special duty' owed me in multiple ways,, on the part of the [S]tate in my case as specific. See "CP" 162-173.

The Governor, Attorney General, and L&I Director, were asked to conduct an investigation in an investigative capacity only, not in a quasi-judicial capacity see "CP" 29-30, 54-56, so there is no discretionary, absolute, or qualified immunity available for the [S]tate in (my case specific).

Atteberry v Nacona General Hospital 430 F.3d 245,253,257 (5th Cir. 2005),,, 'acting, or failing to act with Deliberate Indifference to a substantial risk of serious harm, is the equivalent to recklessly disregarding that risk'... 2 prong test for me Plaintiff to defeat defenses qualified immunity,,, my 'property interest' rights were violated, and

defendants actions, and failing to act [AG],,, were unreasonable in light of the law that was clearly established at that time. To consciously disregard a known excessive risk to my health. I have shown defendants were aware of facts from which an inference of a risk existed, and defendants actually drew an inference with its March 11, 2014 letter 'expressly assuring' me an investigation/opinion into my case. "CP" 175. Deliberate Indifference defeats 12(b)(6). If the reasonableness of the defenses non actions,,, in 2014, are an 'issue of law',,, for the court, fine, as opposed to a question of fact for a jury to decide whether the [S]tate was acting in good faith covering up, and ignoring its non-compliance with the April 18, 2007 legal Order in my favor.

It was not reasonable for the [AG] to ignore my complaint in 2014, knowing I had no remedy under the 'Act', to enforce compliance with my April 18, 2007 BIIA victory, then giving [AG] a 'special duty' owed me... See "CP" 54-56, 93-94, how the separation of powers argument will not protect the [S]tate when a ministerial duty only was requested by me.

When I Plaintiff prevailed April 18, 2007 I defeated not just L&I, but I also defeated the Attorney General, then creating a 'special duty' owed me by the Attorney General as (my case specific).

When the Attorney General from here forth [AG], filed that November 14, 2011 Sworn Statement "CP" 133-134, it created a 'special duty' owed me.

A damages action in tort for liability will lie, against a government entity, where there has been a definite invasion of the legal rights of the individual from government nonfeasance. Where statutes prescribe positive duties, authorities acting under them are responsible when a subjective, or personal legal right has been infringed. Officers are liable for refusal to act if the statute authorizing them to act turns out to be constitutional, and if some private individual has been injured thereby. This is reference to RCW 43.06.010, RCW 43.10.030, RCW 51.04.020. See "CP" 9, 95-105, and my proper reference to *Cushman v Shinseki*. Just as in *Cushman* which along with *Goldberg v Kelly*, as powerful U.S. Supreme Court precedent cases, drawing very powerful parallels to my case, as once a claim has been approved as in *Cushman, and Goldberg*, and my case in 1993, then ,,, 'property interest' ,,, has been established. Unlike an initial application only, ,,, which establishes no 'property interest' ,,, then provides no 'legitimate entitlement' to benefits of any variety, ,,, not just monetary, but also claim adjudication propriety, ,,, once my claim was approved in 1993, ,,, it cannot be denied later, without due process. By the [S]tate never complying with my April 18, 2007 victory compelling them to 'further adjudicate my claim on a different legal standard' giving then L&I, and the [AG] a 'special duty' owed me, both L&I, and the [S]tate has denied my 'property interest' illegally, by providing no remedy for me under the 'Act' with the deliberate omissions in L&I's 2007, 2010,

and 2014 Appealable Orders. "CP" 128,140,141.

Conley v Gibson 355 U.S. 41 (1957),,, 12(b)(6) must not be granted 'unless it appears beyond doubt that Plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief'.

I have presented sufficient 'legal theory of 'duty' for relief.

Rule 8,, Plaintiff must be given fair opportunity at Discovery

I have stated a clear basis for relief, and not just 'bare averments', for a 'substantive legal theory'. 12(b)(6) dismissal movant, has burden to prove my case is not actionable, Judge Culpepper ignored this.

My case,,,, is an 'issue of first impression'. 12(b)(6) cannot lie when Discovery would have shown admissible evidence. "CP" 110-113.

12(b)(6) dismissal raises only an 'issue of law', so it is reviewed de novo substantive level means, on the merits, as [AG] enforcement duty...

Defense counsel Rice cites and Judge Culpepper relies on *Dicomes v State* 113 Wn. 2d 612, 630, 782, P.2d 1002 (1989),,, App."EX" 3, a case actually supporting my position, as State Supreme Court only denied *Dicomes* position,,, because she was considered a policymaker for one, therefore there was a question of contributory fault,,, and,,, her ability to seek, and procure future employment was not (foreclosed) by the States action to terminate her employment. (Foreclosed) is the key dynamic here, as the [S]tate in (my case specific), as Judge Culpepper and Defense counsel Rice relying on *Dicomes*,,, must prove my ability to procure remedy for my specific complaint,,, under the 'Act',,, was

somehow not (foreclosed),,, by the content, and intentional omissions in L&I's 2007, 2010, and 2014 Appealable Orders ""CP" 128,140,141. Defense must also prove contributory fault on my part. APP."EX" 3, pg.6 at 16-17. This becomes very relevant because the Superior Court hid behind the cloak of Defense cited misstatements of Restatement of Torts, and misstatements of case law, to deny original jurisdiction of my Tort complaint. See "CP" 58, 59, 99, for my powerful citation to *Rothwell v Nine Miles Falls School District 149 Wash. App.771, 782, 206 P.3d 347 (2009)*,,, where the Appellate Court would have allowed her tort complaint (if only) based on a complaint not bound by the 'exclusive remedy provisions' of the 'Act', to mean, as not based on an occupational disease, on industrial injury as (my case specific). But *Rothwell* fails,, where I succeed in that specific regard. As *Rothwell* fails for specific reasons, then a specific contrast to my case. There are no 'enforcement mechanisms' under the 'Act". Then the [AG] had a statutory 'special duty', and a common-law 'special duty', in (my case specific),,, to become that 'enforcement mechanism' after April 18, 2007 – August 3, 2007. "CP" 128, 162-164,165-173. By 2014, the [AG] knew it was my only hope under the 'Act'. The [AG] knew that it was the [S]tates highest-ranking law 'enforcement' officer. As in *Cushman*, my 5th, and 14th Amend. rights were violated under the, 'Act', then Constitutional law was established, and State law under the

'Act' RCW 51.04.020(6), as L&I Director 'special duty' was established. Then it was unreasonable for the [AG] to ignore my complaint in 2014. This, as opposed to any attempt by defense to cite *Mitchell v Forsyth* 472, U.S. 511 (1985),,, where in that U.S. Supreme Court case, the U.S. Attorney General was not responsible, or liable, because the surveillance laws (later enacted),,, were not established at the time at issue in that case.

My April 18, 2007 legal victory changed business as usual then, and is still what the [S]tate must defend successfully, to include proving I could have had remedy under the 'Act', to defeat my proper Tort complaint.

See "CP" 110-113.

See Restatement (third) of Torts Sections 38-42 (2011)...

See Restatement (third) of Torts Section 1 Section 33(b) proposed final draft (2005) as (Larson's Workers Compensation Law),,, for a 'more broader tort liability analysis by the court' to create an intentional tort, when the [S]tate had both knowledge, of my doctors reports of worsening, and intentional purpose to cause me further physical, emotional harm, and violating my 'property interest' legitimate entitlement. See how proper interpretation of those Restatements, support (my case specific) as [S]tates affirmative duty, and 'special relationship' duty owed.

My April 18, 2007 legal victory, creates the [S]tate 'special relationship'.

Also see Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 874(A) (1979).

Cnty. of Sacramento v Lewis 523 U.S. 833 (1998),,, *When the executive official had time to deliberate, but the official was nevertheless deliberately indifferent, the deliberate indifference shocks the conscience and violates substantive due process.*

See "CP" 4-5 where I first cite, *Cougar Bus. Owner's Assn' v State* 97 Wn.2d 466,476, 647 P.2d 481,486 (1982),,, to simply show a contrast, to mean, as not correct, for the [S]tate, to claim discretionary immunity in (my case specific) as opposed to *Cougar*,,, where a legitimately, and honorably intended public safety decision by the Governor then,,, after the Mt.St. Helens disaster,,, as public duty, to then Defense counsel Rice in (my case specific), citing this case to despicably attempt to draw some type of comparison, again, for discretionary immunity purposes. In my case, the Governor was well informed that the [AG] was the last hope for remedy under the 'Act', and by ignoring my request for help was not an honorable choice on the part of the Governor, and [AG], but was unreasonable, then not allowing the Governor, and [AG] to be protected by discretionary immunity in (my case as specific). The Governor is protected by the 'public duty doctrine' even for a mistake, unless a specific individual was promised specific help, by way of a specific 'express assurance'. An 'express assurance', like in (my case specific) creating the 'special relationship'. See "CP" 102-108,142, 175.

So Rice is comparing an honorable public safety concern Governor's

decision in *Cougar*,,, to [AG] in my case, only refusing to address my specific complaint about why L&I, the [S]tate, never complied with the April 18, 2007 BIIA decision in my favor, because it, the [S]tate, knew it could never defend the perjury in that November 14, 2011 Sworn Statement claiming compliance with that April 18, 2007 decision in my favor, because it knew it never actually complied with that decision. This is how dishonest the attempt,,, by Defense counsel Rice. I ask this Appellate Court to see clearly and indisputably,,, Judge van Doorninck on February 27, 2015, and Judge Culpepper on April 17, 2015, both signed Defense counsel Rices' Proposed Orders. Then it is not arguable,,, that any, and all misstatements of law, as misstatements of Restatements of Torts, and misstatements of case law citations cited by Defense counsel Rice, and signed off on by Judge van Doorninck, and Judge Culpepper means,,, that those erroneous citations are being accepted by those respective Judges,,, then the decisions made by those Judges as I specifically state,,, are misstatements of law upon which any, or all of my case, was dismissed, with those respective decisions on February 27, 2015, and April 17, 2015. So Judge van Doorninck, and Judge Culpepper acknowledged, and accepted misstatements of law which must be reversed as a matter of law. Rice cited cases before Judge van Doorninck, in direct relevance to the Appellate Courts not accepting a Constitutional context Tort complaint,

just to make a specific example of my 'property interest' as being violated, where all persons at issue in the cases Rice cites, either had an opportunity to have, or did have, remedy as (not foreclosed),,, in a prior legal process. Rice was intentionally dishonest about the specific context of Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 46 (1965), of which Judge Culpepper accepted. When Judge Culpepper May 4, 2015, states in his own Order, that my 'materials were examined', to what does he refer! Only my Motion for Reconsideration pleadings that includes my pleading to Judge Culpepper that he did not view my Amended Principle Brief to include my 40 Exhibits, "CP"110-175, when he dismissed with prejudice on April 17, 2015, based on Defense counsel Rices' misstatements of law.. See "CP" 176-187. And Judge Culpepper on May 4, 2015 states, "having reviewed its prior decision", meaning, his, Judge Culpeppers' decision directly relating to Rices' misstatements of law, and not reviewing my Amended Principle Brief, and included 40 Exhibits, "CP" 110-175, proving to be admissible thru Discovery, denied me with an erroneous 12(b)(6) dismissal. Rices' citations are all based on a perfect-world-scenario, where there would have been no 'special duty' owed by the [S]tate, as there was in my case. Restatement (third) of Torts Section 40 (2011),,, 'Courts are free to recognize specific 'special relationships', not just 'express assurance' 'special relationships', that of course also exist in (my case specific). The law has developed to recognize a select group of relationships between

2, or more parties requiring a 'special duty' of care, where the traditional default no duty rule would otherwise apply'. My case is that select case, because of the prior to, and thru 2014, conduct of L&I. Section 39...

Section 38: Tort law can serve as an 'enforcement mechanism' when a statute, or regulation has been violated. See "CP" 27-64,100,109.

Defense misstatements of law, and misstatements of Restatements, as accepted, and utilized by Superior Court to dismiss, are reversible error.

And I ask this Appellate Court demand Defense counsel Rices' pleadings that are as attached to Rices' Proposed Orders signed by those Judges.

Then this allows this Appellate Court to review this specific dynamic as I have outlined, by both de novo, and abuse of discretion review.

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