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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

An appellate court applies a de novo standard of review to a trial

court' s decision to dismiss for failure to state a claim under CR 12( b)( 6). 

Tenore v. AT& T Wireless Sews., 136 Wn.2d 322, 329- 30, 962 P. 2d 104

1998). This Court may affirm the decision of the trial court where it

appears beyond doubt that, even assuming hypothetical facts not part of

the record, plaintiff would be unable to prove any set of facts, consistent

with the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief. Hoffer v. 

State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 421, 755 P.2d 781, 785 ( 1988) on reconsideration

in part, 113 Wn.2d 148, 776 P.2d 963 ( 1989). 
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This court can affirm on any ground finding support in the record. 

RAP 2. 5( a). The appellate courts may decline to review arguments not

supported by reference to the record. RAP 10. 3( a)( 4) and ( 5); 

RAP 10. 3( g); Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 

809, 828 P.2d 549 ( 1992). 

B. The Superior Court Correctly Dismissed Mr. Collins' 

Constitutional Tort" And Statutory Violation Claims In His
Second Amended Complaint

The trial court properly dismissed Mr. Collins " constitutional tort" 

and statutory violation claims under CR 12( b)( 6), as his claimed injuries

were already protected under the Industrial Insurance ACT ( IIA), and the

constitutional and statutory provisions he cited do not expressly or

impliedly provide a right of action in tort or any other right of action for

damages. 

An action should be dismissed for failure to state a claim only

when " it appears beyond doubt that the claimant can prove no set of facts, 

consistent with the complaint, which would justify recovery." Lakey v. 

Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 922 n.9, 296 P. 3d 860 ( 2013). 

In ruling on such a motion, plaintiffs allegations are presumed to be true, 

and hypothetical facts not part of the formal record may be considered. 

Cutler v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 124 Wn.2d 749, 755, 881 P. 2d 216

1994). In other words, a " CR 12( b)( 6) motion only warrants dismissal in
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the unusual case in which the plaintiff includes allegations that show on

the face of the complaint that there is some insuperable bar to relief." 

Birnbaum v. Pierce County, 167 Wn. App. 728, 732, 274 P. 3d 1070

2012). 

In ruling on a motion to dismiss, the court may properly consider

documents whose contents are alleged in the complaint. Birnbaum, 167

Wn. App. at 732; see also Trujillo v. N. W. Trustee Servs., Inc., 181 Wn. 

App. 484, 491- 92, 326 P. 3d 768 ( 2014) ("[ A] s the rule and case authority

plainly indicate `[ d] ocuments whose contents are alleged in a complaint

but which are not physically attached to the pleading may . . . be

considered in ruling on a CR 12( b)( 6) motion to dismiss."') ( citation

omitted). 

Mr. Collins' second amended complaint alleged that certain state

officers and employees, through the Governor' s Office ( Governor Jay

Inslee), the Attorney General' s Office ( Attorney General Robert

Ferguson), and the Department of Labor and Industries ( Joel Sacks, Nancy

Adams, and Eric Brooks), violated his constitutional rights in several

respects with regard to his claim for compensation for an industrial injury. 

CP at 65- 69. 

Mr. Collins asserted that the Department of Labor and Industries

mishandled his claim ( Counts I -III), and that the Attorney General' s
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Office ( Count IV) and the Governor' s Office ( Count V) failed to

investigate his complaints in response to letters that he sent to them. 

CP at 66- 69. In support, he relied upon the constitutional guarantee of due

process ( Wash. Const. art. I, § 3), and other inchoate provisions ( Wash. 

Const. art. I, §§ 30 and 32). CP at 66- 69. 

1. The IIA Provides Mr. Collins' Exclusive Remedy

Mr. Collins " constitutional tort" theory is simply an effort to

circumvent the exclusive remedy provision of the IIA, Title 51 RCW. 

With very narrow exceptions, there is no basis for a tort claim for injuries

subject to the exclusive remedy provision of the IIA. See Cena v. State, 

121 Wn. App. 352, 357- 58, 88 P. 3d 432 ( 2004). The reason for this is

simple. The IIA is a self-contained system that provides exclusive

procedures and remedies that apply to workers, employers and the

Department. Brand v. Dep' t ofLabor & Indus., 139 Wn.2d 659, 668, 989

P. 2d 1111 ( 1999); see also Rector v. Dep' t of Labor & Indus., 61 Wn. 

App. 385, 810 P. 2d 1363 ( 1991) (" An industrial insurance claim, however, 

is governed by explicit statutory directives and not by the common law.") 

The cornerstone and most fundamental provision of the IIA is the

exclusive remedy provision found in RCW 51. 04.010, as adopted with the

creation of the Industrial Insurance Act, Laws of 1911, ch. 74, § 1. 
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The state of Washington, ... exercising herein its police
and sovereign power, declares that all phases of the
premises are withdrawn from private controversy, and sure
and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and
their families and dependents is hereby provided regardless
of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other
remedy, proceeding or compensation, except as otherwise
provided in this title; and to that end all civil actions and

civil causes of action for such personal injuries and all
jurisdiction of the courts of the state over such causes are

hereby abolished, except as in this title provided. 

RCW 51. 04. 010 ( emphasis added); see also, RCW 51. 32. 010 ( payment of

benefits under the IIA is " in lieu of any and all rights of action whatsoever

against any person whomsoever") 

The exclusive remedy provision of Title 51 RCW is " sweeping and

comprehensive" and " of the broadest and most encompassing nature." 

Tallerday v. Delong, 68 Wn. App. 351, 356, 842 P. 2d 1023 ( 1993). " A

worker who receives workers' compensation benefits under the act has no

separate remedy for his or her injuries except where the act specifically

authorizes a cause of action." Tallerday, 68 Wn. App. at 356. 

Accordingly, the trial court's jurisdiction over matters arising under the

IIA was limited by the terms of the IIA. RCW 51. 04.010, RCW 51. 52. 110

and . 115; Shufeldt v. Dep' t of Labor & Indus., 57 Wn.2d 758, 760, 359

P.2d 495 ( 1961) ([ The superior court] has no original jurisdiction. It can

decide only matters decided by the administrative tribunals.") 
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The IIA provided Mr. Collins with a primary remedy for the

allegedly improper denial of his claim. RCW 51. 04.010. Because a

comprehensive statutory scheme exists that provides for compensation for

industrial injuries, and in the absence of a statutory basis for bringing a

claim based on a " constitutional tort" theory, the trial court had no need to

recognize a generalized " constitutional tort" cause of action for

Mr. Collins' claims. Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wn.2d 195, 213- 14, 961

P. 2d 333 ( 1998) ( refusing to recognize private right of action for violation

of Wash. Const. art. I, § 7 where adequate common law remedies exist). 

2. There Is No Independent Basis For A Claim Based On

Constitutional Tort" 

Here, the superior court gave Mr. Collins the benefit of every

doubt in evaluating his claims on defendants' CR 12( b)( 6) motion, 

including the potential for the existence of claims based on his

constitutional tort" theory. Even giving Mr. Collins the benefit of every

doubt on the potential factual bases for his " constitutional tort" claims in

his second amended complaint, and assuming that such a tort claim could

survive the scope of the IIA, there is no legal basis under which an

independent claim of "constitutional tort" could survive dismissal under

CR 12( b)( 6). 
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3. No Basis For Claims of Statutory Violation

Washington courts have consistently refused to recognize damages

claims for violation of the Constitution in the absence of legislation setting

forth the contours of such a claim. See Spurrell v. Bloch, 40 Wn. App. 

854, 860- 61, 701 P. 2d 529 ( 1985) (" The constitutional guarantee of due

process, Wash. Const. art. I, § 3, not of itself, without aid of augmenting

legislation, establish a cause of action for money damages against the state

in favor of any person alleging deprivation of property without due

process."); Sys. Amusement, Inc. v. State, 7 Wn. App. 516, 518- 19, 500

P. 2d 1253 ( 1972) (" Acts violative of the clause may be declared void by

courts, but the clause does not, of itself, provide remedy of reparation."); 

see also Blinka v. Washington State Bar Assn, 109 Wn. App. 575, 591, 36

P. 3d 1094 ( 2001) ( affirming summary judgment dismissal of

constitutional tort claim, holding that Washington courts have consistently

refused to recognize such claims). 

This consistent refusal to allow tort lawsuits based on alleged

constitutional violations finds its roots in sound principles of judicial

restraint. Without legislative guidance, courts are generally " in a poor

position to say what should or should not be compensation for violation of

a state constitutional right and what limitations on liability should be

imposed." Blinka, 109 Wn. App. at 591 ( citation omitted). Further, when
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there are sufficient remedies available from other sources, such as the

common law, Washington courts have held that it is unnecessary to

recognize claims arising directly under the Constitution. Reid v. Pierce

County, 136 Wn.2d at 213- 14. Here, Mr. Collins had sufficient remedies

available under the IIA and there was no statutory authority for the

constitutional tort" he sought to pursue. The superior court properly

dismissed his " constitutional tort" claims. 

In addition to the alleged constitutional violations, Mr. Collins' 

second amended complaint asserted claims against the Attorney General' s

Office and the Office of the Governor based on alleged violations of

statutes. As to the Attorney General' s Office, the statute alleged to have

been violated was RCW 43. 10. 030, and as to the Governor, it was

RCW 43. 06.010. Neither of these statutes establishes the basis for a cause

of action in damages. Each of the statutes is entitled " General powers and

duties," and simply list the powers of the Governor and the Attorney

General, respectively. A decision made within the scope of these general

powers and duties is not subject to a claim for damages in tort. To the

contrary, the exercise of general powers and duties of the Governor or the

Attorney General are not generally appropriate bases for bringing a claim

for damages. See Cougar Bus. Owners Ass' n v. State, 97 Wn.2d 466, 472, 

488- 89, 647 P. 2d 481 ( 1982) ( Governor' s decision to declare a state of
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emergency was not actionable; " A cause of action for damages ... is not

the proper mode to challenge the Governor' s actions."); Berge v. Gorton, 

88 Wn.2d 756, 759- 62, 567 P. 2d 187 ( 1977) ( affirming dismissal pursuant

to CR 12( b)( 6) of claim for damages against Attorney General for alleged

violation of RCW 43. 10.030). 

For all of these reasons, the trial court properly dismissed

Mr. Collins' second amended complaint. 

C. The Superior Court Correctly Dismissed Mr. Collins' Third

Amended Complaint For Failure To State A Claim. 

After dismissal of his second amended complaint, Mr. Collins

recast his claims in a third amended complaint, this time without reference

to the Washington Constitution or the two statutes he cited in his prior

complaint. The operative facts largely remained the same, although he

added allegations concerning the conduct of an additional individual, now - 

former Assistant Attorney General Evelyn Fielding Lopez, who was

alleged to have provided " express assurances" to Mr. Collins that a legal

opinion concerning his claims " would be forthcoming," and then failed to

act on those express assurances. CP at 87. 

The legal theories espoused in Mr. Collins' third amended

complaint were based on the assertion that the various defendants acted

with malice to intentionally deprive him of the ability to present his
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industrial injury claim or to investigate the reasons why he was being

deprived of that ability. 

Although Mr. Collins is entitled to a broad reading of his factual

allegations, including hypothetical facts, his third amended complaint and

the documents to which that complaint refers, simply do not provide

evidence of the type of extreme conduct that would support a claim for the

tort of outrage. The evidence referenced in Mr. Collins' third amended

complaint reveals only routine handling of an industrial injury claim, there

is no suggestion of personal animus toward Mr. Collins, or any hint of

conduct that any reasonable person could find went beyond the bounds of

decency. CP at 118, 125- 26, 128, 133- 34, 140- 42, 159- 61, 175, 301- 02. 

The trial court properly considered whether the facts, when viewed

in the light most favorable to Mr. Collins, would support a claim for the

tort of outrage, as such a claim is not precluded by the IIA, provided that it

arises from intentional conduct. Cena v. State, 121 Wn. App. at 357 n. 10; 

Birklid v. Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d 853, 864- 66, 872, 904 P.2d 278 ( 1995) 

exclusive remedy for claims of negligent and reckless conduct provided

by the Industrial Insurance Act). A careful reading of Mr. Collins' third

amended complaint and the documents that it references, show no

evidence of the type of intentional and outrageous conduct that would

support a claim for the tort of outrage. 
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The specific variant of the tort of outrage necessary to overcome

the exclusive remedy provision of the IIA requires pleading and proof of

the following elements: ( 1) extreme and outrageous conduct, 

2) intentional infliction of emotional distress, and ( 3) actual result to the

plaintiff of severe emotional distress. Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn. 

App. 454, 472, 98 P. 3d 827 ( 2004) ( citing Birklid). The type of extreme

and outrageous conduct necessary to establish liability for the tort of

outrage must be " So outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as

to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as

atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community." Grimsby v. 

Samson, 85 Wn.2d 52, 59, 530 P.2d 291 ( 1975) ( quoting Restatement

Second) of Torts § 46, cmt. D ( 1965)). By contrast, " liability in the tort

of outrage ` does not extend to mere insults, indignities, threats, 

annoyances, petty oppressions, or other trivialities."' Id. 

Although the elements of the tort of outrage are usually jury

questions, the court must initially determine if reasonable minds could

differ on whether the conduct is extreme enough to result in liability. 

Kirby, 124 Wn. App. at 473 ( citing Dicomes v. State, 113 Wn.2d 612, 630, 

782 P. 2d 1002 ( 1989)). 

In ruling on the motion to dismiss the third amended complaint, the

trial court properly considered documents filed as exhibits to defendants' 
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motion to dismiss, whose contents were alleged in the complaint, but were

not filed as exhibits to the complaint. Birnbaum, 167 Wn. App. at 732; 

see also Trujillo, 181 Wn. App. at 491- 92, 326 P.3d 768 ( 2014) ("[ A] s the

rule and case authority plainly indicate `[ d] ocuments whose contents are

alleged in a complaint but which are not physically attached to the

pleading may .. . be considered in ruling on a CR 12( b)( 6) motion to

dismiss."') ( citation omitted). 

Although it is clear that Mr. Collins is frustrated with the industrial

insurance process, nothing alleged in his third amended complaint

remotely approaches the kind of extreme and intentional conduct required

for liability under a theory of outrage. What the pleadings and documents

attached show is that Mr. Collins' industrial insurance claim was reopened

for a time in 2006, and was closed again in 2007 following an IME. 

CP at 111- 14, 116, 118- 130. Although Mr. Collins is clearly displeased

with the outcome, and has demanded that the result be reviewed or

investigated by others in one form or another over the past eight years, 

there is nothing in the record to support his conclusory allegations that

there was intentional and malicious conduct directed toward him in any of

the steps in that process. 

It is not sufficient for a plaintiff to simply allege in conclusory

fashion that a defendant acted with malicious intent. The character of
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conduct itself must be extreme and uncivilized. Dicomes v. State, 113

Wn.2d 612, 630, 631, 782 P.2d 1002 ( 1989) ( citing Restatement ( Second) 

of Torts § 46, cmt. D ( 1965)). In Dicomes, the plaintiff was terminated

from employment, based upon an " intentionally prepared false report

created for the sole purpose of embarrassing, humiliating and then

terminating Ms. Dicomes." Id. at 630. The Supreme Court expressly

rejected this argument as sufficient to establish " outrageous" conduct: 

E] ven if the purpose of the study was to terminate
plaintiff, the fact of the discharge itself is not sufficient to

support a claim of outrage .... It is the manner in which

the discharge is accomplished that might constitute

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